IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA FILLE

SID J. MATTE

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC NO. 85,322

FREDERICK GLENN SHEFFIELD,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DALE E. TARPLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0872921 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

/cmf

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and appellee in the District Court of Appeal, Second District. Respondent, Frederick Glenn Sheffield, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The symbol "R." designates the original record on appeal, which includes the transcript of the trial court proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant entered pleas and was sentenced in twelve cases jointly, including or in addition to three probation revocations. (R. 16-17, 258) He had twenty-five previous felony convictions and was charged with twenty-seven more. (R. 208) Notices of intent to habitualize had been filed in two of the cases, and the prosecutor handling them was seeking habitual offender sentences totaling forty years. (R. 2-10, 17, 220) On February 3, 1993, a plea agreement was executed in those cases which permitted that sentence as a maximum, with consecutive probation, and required court costs, restitution, and reimbursement to FDLE. (R. 255-257)

In the rest of the cases, habitualization was not sought. The state was requesting that the full terms be spent on

probation to facilitate restitution, with the understanding that the probation in those cases should be subject to early termination if the amounts due were paid before then. (R. 18-19) These cases were apparently handled separately prior to the plea hearing on February 9, 1993, and the record does not contain a written agreement as to them. (R. 17)

The defendant was told before entering his plea that he would be required to pay court costs of \$288, attorney's fees of \$250, and whatever restitution was due. (R. 19) The court was advised that it would only be necessary to retain jurisdiction to determine the amount of restitution in Case No. 92-3266, because the amounts due for everything else were already known. (R. 23) The probation order provides for payments of costs and fees in the amounts specified at the plea hearing and does not order any restitution at all to be paid in Case No. 92-3266. (R. 266-270)

At the sentencing hearing on April 15, 1993, the defendant testified and called his parents and two mental health experts, all of whom said much the same thing. He grew up in a conservative, working family that did not indulge in alcohol or drugs. (R. 198) He was a good mechanic and had been an average, well-behaved student until the death of his grandmother when he was about sixteen or seventeen. (R. 163, 205-206, 207-208) That upset him so much that he hibernated for two months then dropped out of school and got a job digging graves. (R. 197-198, 210)

His boss introduced him to crack cocaine and he was "instantly" addicted. He rapidly developed a very expensive habit and his crimes were committed for that reason. (R. 174-175, 211) After going to prison, he kicked the habit for two months, but he went out drinking with friends one night and wound up smoking crack as well. (R. 188-189, 212)

Everyone agreed that he should serve a substantial sentence and undergo long-term drug treatment after his release. defense counsel and defendant both requested a twenty-two year guidelines sentence, which was the top of the permitted range, followed by a two year residential drug treatment program. (R. 212-214, 216, 220) The defendant's goal was to avoid an extended habitual offender term as the state was recommending. (R. 212-The judge actually imposed a fifteen-year habitual offender sentence on one count, followed by concurrent probation for ten years with a requirement for long-term residential drug treatment as needed. Ten-year probationary terms were imposed for the remaining offenses in the habitual offender cases, which could result in habitual offender prison terms if violated, and the numerous five-year felonies in appellant's nonhabitual cases were all paired up to produce several concurrent ten-year periods, each comprised of two consecutive five-year terms. (R. 221-223, 227-237)

The judge advised the defendant that "all drug-related conditions will apply to the probation" and that he could be searched or tested for drugs at any time. (R. 221-222) The provision for warrantless searches is the only drug-related condition imposed that does not refer to drugs expressly. (R. 266-270) The PSI that would presumably show what conditions were recommended and in what terms and why and explain the restitution amounts was not included in the record. The probation orders violated in three of appellant's prior drug-related cases that would show what drug-related conditions he was familiar with from previous experience are not provided either.

Neither defendant nor defense counsel gave any indication of uncertainty about the conditions the judge was referring to, and no objection was made as to any of them. The defendant had purportedly recognized that he was not capable of giving up cocaine without forced abstinence and long-term deterrence thereafter and had reached the point of welcoming that, as defense counsel's sentencing recommendation suggests. (R. 158-162, 183, 201-202, 206-208, 212-214, 216)

The notice of appeal in this case was only filed in the two habitual offender cases, the clerk was only directed to include documents from those two cases, and there is no indication otherwise that the defendant intended to appeal the non-habitual probationary sentences imposed in any of this other cases. (R.

260-265) There is nothing in the record relating to those cases except the transcripts and documents which are joint, and they apparently were not appealed separately as the docketing statement prepared by trial defense counsel indicates that there are no related appeals.

In view of continuing problems in the Second District between probation conditions that are special versus general, i.e., those that must be orally pronounced at sentencing to be valid, and those that need not, the court again certified the question certified in <u>Hart v. State</u>, 651 So. 2d 112 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995):

DOES THE SUPREME COURT'S PROMULGATION OF THE FORM "ORDER OF PROBATION" IN FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.986 CONSTITUTE SUFFICIENT NOTICE TO PROBATIONERS OF CONDITIONS 1-11 SUCH THAT ORAL PRONOUNCEMENT OF THESE CONDITIONS BY THE TRIAL COURT IS UNNECESSARY?

Pursuant to the Second District's certification of the question of great public importance, the state files its initial brief on the merits.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE PROMULGATION OF THE FORM 'ORDER OF PROBATION' IN FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.986 CONSTITUTES SUFFICIENT NOTICE TO PROBATIONERS OF CONDITIONS 1-11 SUCH THAT ORAL PRONOUNCEMENT OF THESE CONDITIONS BY THE TRIAL COURT IS UNNECESSARY?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.986(a) was amended in 1992 to clarify the requirement that all trial courts must use the form "order of probation" set forth in that rule when placing a defendant on probation. Therefore, the conditions of probation enumerated one through eleven provided in this form are general conditions of probation of which defendants have constructive notice. As such, trial courts are not required to orally pronounce these conditions prior to their imposition, and the District Court erred by striking portions of conditions which were imposed pursuant to the form.

ARGUMENT

THE PROMULGATION OF THE FORM 'ORDER OF PROBATION' IN FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.986 CONSTITUTES SUFFICIENT NOTICE TO PROBATIONERS OF CONDITIONS 1-11 SUCH THAT ORAL PRONOUNCEMENT OF THESE CONDITIONS BY THE TRIAL COURT IS UNNECESSARY.

The District Courts of Appeal have repeatedly held that a trial court may not impose "special conditions" of probation upon a defendant without orally pronouncing such at the time of sentencing. The motivation for these holdings is the procedural due process concern that a defendant be provided with notice of these conditions in a fashion which would allow for a timely objection to the sentence imposed. However, by promulgating the form for an "order of probation" which includes the eleven conditions of probation most frequently imposed, this court has provided probationers with sufficient notice such that the additional oral pronouncement of these conditions by a trial court is rendered unnecessary. See In re Amend. to the Fla. Rules Crim. P., 603 So. 2d 1144, 1145 (Fla. 1992).

The legislature has provided that a trial "court shall determine the terms and conditions of probation or community control and may include among them [conditions which are outlined in the section]." Fla. Stat. §948.03(1) (1991)(emphasis added). This list is neither mandatory nor exclusive, as subsection (5) of the same section provides:

The enumeration of specific kinds of terms and conditions shall not prevent the court

from adding thereto such other or others as it considers proper.

Fla. Stat. §948.03(5) (1991). The legislative intent that Chapter 948 does not exclusively enumerate all general conditions of probation which a court might impose is demonstrated as the most basic condition of any probation, that a probationer live and remain at liberty without violating any law, is not enumerated therein. However, this condition was included by this court as condition 5 in the list of general conditions to be applied in all cases through the use of the form order of probation promulgated in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.986(e).

The district courts' continuing requirement of oral pronouncement of these conditions of probation in spite of the form is apparently due to a due process concern that a defendant know of the conditions and have a meaningful opportunity to object to them. Olvey v. State, 609 So. 2d 640 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)(en banc). However, as this court has expressly mandated that the Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.986(e) form shall be utilized by all courts, defendants are now on notice through their counsel that the eleven conditions specifically enumerated therein will be imposed as a part of every trial court's order of probation.

In analyzing the propriety of the assessment of costs against a defendant in <u>State v. Beasley</u>, 580 So. 2d 139, 142 (Fla. 1991), this court indicated that "publication in the Laws of Florida or the Florida Statutes gives all citizens construc-

tive notice of the consequences of their actions." This principle has repeatedly been applied by the district courts when assessing the propriety of the imposition of a condition of probation allowed by statute. Olvey; Tillman v. State, 592 So. 2d 767, 768 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Hayes v. State, 585 So. 2d 397, 398 (1st DCA), review denied, 593 So. 2d 1052 (Fla. 1991). The district courts have not hesitated to infer that defendants have constructive notice through their counsel when affirming conditions of probation enumerated in the Florida Statutes.

As all counsel are expected to be as familiar with the rules of procedure mandated by the court as with the laws of Florida and to advise their clients accordingly, probationers should therefore be bound by their counsel's knowledge of both the statutes and the court rules. Currently, due to trial counsel's knowledge of general conditions of probation commonly imposed, these general conditions are virtually never pronounced in practice absent a specific question about them.

With the universal application of the form order of probation now provided by the rules, a defense attorney would not need to review an order to ask what general conditions would be imposed, as a condition such as condition 4 would not only always be included but also be included at that number. Even in the event that a defendant's counsel did not know what conditions the court applies in all cases, he/she could either review the

standard order or ask the trial court for further enumeration, and, if appropriate deletion.

Finally, even if this court determines that the District Court properly struck the challenged portions of the conditions at issue for failure to pronounce them with sufficient specificity, such provisions should only be stricken from the order of probation without prejudice. Section 948.03(5), Florida Statutes (1991) specifically states:

... The court may rescind or modify at any time the terms and conditions theretofore imposed by it upon a probationer or offender in community control.

Therefore, the trial court's original order of probation should be reinstated, or the trial court should be allowed the opportunity to reimpose the challenged conditions upon remand following oral pronouncement.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the preceding authorities and arguments, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this court enter an opinion answering the certified question in the affirmative and directing the District Court to remand the matter to the trial court with instructions to reinstate the original order of probation.