FILED SID J. WHITE AUG 80 1995 CLERK. By **Chief Deputy**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

F.S.C. No.: 85,322

FREDERICK GLENN SHEFFIELD,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF CERTIFIED CONFLICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DOMINGO G. ALVAREZ, III Attorney At Law 2514 East Jackson Street Orlando, Florida 32803 (407) 898-6212 Florida Bar No. 0374377

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

For purposes of the issue briefed in the case at bar, Respondent adopts the statement of case and facts as set forth by Petitioner in Petitioner's Brief on the Merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because the Rules of Civil Procedure require a sentence to be orally pronounced, since oral pronouncements at sentencing take precedence over the written order, as well as the fact that the written sentence is only a record of the actual oral sentence pronouncement of the court, and recognizing that there is a due process "notice" requirement in imposing conditions of probation, Respondent would submit that all conditions of probation, with the exception of Statutorily mandated ones, should be orally pronounced in open court so as to satisfy due process. However, if this court chooses to follow the delineation between general and special conditions acknowledged by the district courts, Respondent would submit that special conditions not found in a statute, irrespective of whether or not they are included in the probation form found in the Rules of Criminal Procedure, should be orally pronounced at sentencing, and that only those laws published in the laws of Florida or in the Florida Statutes give Defendants appropriate constructive notice to satisfy due process concerns. Finally, since probation conditions cannot be added to an existing sentence unless there is a finding of violation of probation, and since sentencing courts are only authorized to modify already imposed terms of probation, those conditions of probation which were improperly imposed without oral pronouncement at sentencing should be stricken from the sentence and the trial court should not have the opportunity to re-instate them at a new sentencing hearing.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DOES THE SUPREME COURT'S PROMULGATION OF THE FROM "ORDER OF PROBATION" IN FLA. RULES CRIM. P. 3.986 CONSTITUTE SUFFICIENT NOTICE TO PROBATIONERS OF CONDITIONS 1 THROUGH 11 SUCH THAT ALL PRONOUNCEMENT OF THESE CONDITIONS BY THE TRIAL COURT IS UNNECESSARY? (CERTIFIED QUESTION)

Petitioner argues that "special conditions" of probation imposed upon a Defendant need not be orally pronounced at the time of sentencing as long as they are included within the "Order of Probation" form promulgated by this court. See <u>In re Amend. to</u> <u>the Fla. Rules Crim. P.</u>, 603 So.2d 1144, 1145 (Fla. 1982). The Petitioner reasons that oral pronouncements are not necessary since defense counsel would be on notice as to what these conditions of probation would be, and therefore the due process requirement of "notice" would be satisfied. In addition, Petitioner argues that even if this Court finds that such "special conditions" must be orally pronounced at sentencing, the trial court should be allowed an opportunity to re-impose the challenged conditions upon remand. Respondent would submit otherwise.

Fla. Rules Crim. P. 3.700, in subsections a & b, state that "(a). Sentence Defined. The term sentence means the pronouncement by the court of the penalty imposed on a defendant for the offense of which the defendant has been adjudged guilt. (b) Pronouncement and Entry. Every sentence or other final disposition of the case shall be pronounced in open court. The final disposition of every case shall be entered in the minutes in courts in which minutes are kept and shall be docketed in court that do not maintain minutes."

Furthermore, it has been held that "a trial court's oral pronouncement controls over its written order". See Roland v. State, 548 So.2d 812 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), at page 814. In addition, in Kelly v. State, 414 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), that court held that "... the written sentence is merely a record of the actual sentence pronounced in court. Fla. Rules Crim. P. 3.700. As stated in Toombs v. State, 404 So.2d 766, 768 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), `the oral pronouncement, although not reflected in the written order, controls.'... " at page 1118. Moreover, it has been recognized that there are due process "notice" requirements to a defendant when the court imposes conditions of probation. See Olvey v. State, 609 So.2d 640, 642 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992). Due process requires this notice because, if nothing else, a defendant has to have an opportunity to object to the conditions, since an objection is required to preserve the record for appeal. Only if the probation condition is illegal or so egregious as to be the equivalent of fundamental error, is an objection not needed. See Larson v. State, 572 So.2d 1368, 1370-1371 (Fla. 1991).

In light of the aforementioned authorities, Respondent would submit that in all cases where a court has the discretion of imposing a condition of probation, the court should be required to orally pronounce every condition of probation at sentencing (Respondent would agree that if a condition of probation is mandated by Statute, oral pronouncement is not necessary. See <u>State v. Beasley</u>, 580 So.2d 139 (Fla. 1991), and <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)). This is consistent with the

requirement of Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.700 that the sentence be pronounced in open court, and with the long held precedents that the written sentence is only a record of the actual oral sentence, and that the oral sentence promulgated takes precedence over the written sentence.

Respondent recognizes that the District Courts have determined that there are two types of probationary conditions. The first of these are standard conditions. These are conditions listed by a Statute by the Legislature. The second are special conditions. These can be added by the court, but are not listed in a Statute. The courts have indicated that defendants have constructive notice of standard conditions listed in Statutes, but not special Consequently, courts must orally pronounce special conditions. sentencing in order to satisfy due process conditions at requirements. See Tillman v. State, 592 So.2d 767, 768 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992), and Olvey v. State, 609 So.2d 640, 641 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992). See also <u>Hart v. State</u>, 651 So.2d 112 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995), and Nank v. State, 646 So.2d 762 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994). The constructive notice rationale is based on the case of State v. Beasley, 580 So.2d 139 (Fla. 1991), in which this court indicated that "...as to notice, publication in the Laws of Florida or the Florida Statutes gives all citizens constructive notice of the consequences of their actions... " citations omitted at page 142. Petitioner would not only ask this court to follow the ruling of the district courts, but would ask that the exception to oral pronouncement of conditions of probation be extended to all the

conditions of probation included in the "Order of Probation" form found in Fla. Rules Crim. P. 3.986, arguing that notice to a defendant's lawyer is enough for the due process "notice" requirements to be satisfied. Respondent would urge this court not to follow this reasoning. The Beasley case indicated that as long as it was published in the Laws of Florida or the Florida Statutes, all citizens were given constructive notice. In this case, since the standard probation form was not published in the Laws of Florida or the Florida Statutes, it cannot be said that it gives all citizens constructive notice of those same conditions. Nothing in Beasley indicates that constructive notice to lawyers is enough to satisfy due process "notice" requirements. In addition, if no oral pronouncement was needed for any other conditions of probations which are included the form, then we would have a situation where in most circumstances, no oral pronouncement of any condition would be necessary at all (unless they were not included in a Statute or in the forms). This is in direct conflict with Rule of Criminal Procedures 3.700 and the principal that oral pronouncements of a sentence take precedence over the written order, as well as the fact that the written order is merely the written record of the oral pronouncement of the court. The tables would in fact be turned, and the written order would control over the oral pronouncement. Respondent would submit that this reversal creating a precedence for the written order over the oral sentence, should not be allowed; due process requires more. Moreover, you could very easily have situations in which it would be very

difficult for defendant's counsel to object to specific conditions of probation, since they would not be required to be orally pronounced, and Defendant may not always know which of the conditions of probation which the court can elect from, were actually issued as part of the sentence.

Petitioner also briefly argues that if this court holds that conditions of probation must be orally pronounced at sentence, that the trial court should be allowed the opportunity to re-impose those conditions as long as they orally pronounced them, instead of ordering the lower court to strike the unannounced conditions. This issue has been certified before this court in Justice v. State, 20 F.L.W. D1697 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). We would submit that the appropriate procedure would be to order the lower courts to strike the conditions of probation not orally pronounced at the original sentence, and would urge this court to follow the dissent in the Justice case, which very succinctly spells out why Petitioner's contention is incorrect. In his descent in the Justice case, Judge Griffin, after recognizing that Fla. Rules Crim. P. 3.700 require an oral pronouncement by the court, also recognizing that the written sentence is only a record of the actual oral sentence pronounced in open court, states that "the Florida Supreme Court has not considered a case such as this wherein the sentencing court has attempted to include in the original written sentence conditions of probation that were not announced, but the court has held that probation conditions cannot be added to an existing sentence, absent of finding a violation of

probation. Lippman v. State, 633 So.2d 1061, 1063 (Fla. 1994). The addition of conditions of probation is as impermissible as any other augmentation of a previously pronounced sentence. Id. It seems to follow that, just as a lower court could not later add probation to an announced sentence of a term of years, or increase the number of years of probation, it cannot later add a condition of probation. The court has explained that the sentencing court is authorized only to modify `theretofore imposed' terms. Clark v. State, 579 So.2d 109, 110 note 3 (Fla. 1991). Consistent with these pronouncements of the higher court, our sister district courts of appeal have correctly ordered stricken on appeal any special condition of probation not orally pronounced." At page Griffin then went on to say that "an order of probation, 1699. like any other aspect of sentencing, ought not be a work in progress that the trial court can add to or subtract from at will so long as he or she brings the Defendant back in and informs the Defendant of the charges. To permit this would mean a lack of finality for no good reason and multiple appeals. See Pope v. State, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990). It is not too much to ask of a sentencing judge to decide on and recite the special conditions of probation at the sentencing hearing, just as is done with the balance of the sentence. If the court has omitted a condition which it had imposed, its chance has passed unless the Defendant violates probation. Even if the majority is correct that the sentencing judge can keep resentencing the Defendant by bringing him back in, and changing the sentence until he actually renders it

by signing and filing it, surely the failure to do so by the time of rendition brings this opportunity to an end." at page 1699.

Because the Rules of Civil Procedure require a sentence to be orally pronounced, since oral pronouncements at sentencing take precedence over the written order, as well as the fact that the written sentence is only a record of the actual oral sentence pronouncement of the court, and recognizing that there is a due process "notice" requirement in imposing conditions of probation, Respondent would submit that all conditions of probation, with the exception of Statutorily mandated ones, should be orally pronounced in open court so as to satisfy due process. However, if this court chooses to follow the delineation between general and special conditions acknowledged by the district courts, Respondent would submit that special conditions not found in a statute, irrespective of whether or not they are included in the probation form found in the Rules of Criminal Procedure, should be orally pronounced at sentencing, and that only those laws published in the laws of Florida or in the Florida Statutes give Defendants appropriate constructive notice to satisfy due process concerns. Finally, since probation conditions cannot be added to an existing sentence unless there is a finding of violation of probation, and since sentencing courts are only authorized to modify already imposed terms of probation, those conditions of probation which were improperly imposed without oral pronouncement at sentencing should be stricken from the sentence and the trial court should not have the opportunity to re-instate them at a new sentencing hearing.

CONCLUSION

In Conclusion, based on the foregoing facts, arguments, and citations of authorities, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question at bar in the negative, and furthermore order that all conditions of probation (exception for statutorily mandated ones) which were not orally pronounced at sentencing, be stricken.